

CORE CLINICAL COMPETENCIES FOR WORKING WITH KINK-INVOLVED INDIVIDUALS

Elemental Kink Readiness to Advanced Kink Proficiencies For Medical and Mental Health Providers

PUBLISHED SEPTEMBER 2021

The Alternative Sexualities Health Research Alliance – TASHRA

Authors:

Richard Sprott, PHD

Anna Randall, DHS, MSW, MPH

Kaylie Engel, BA

Erik Wert, DO, MPH, FACOI, AAHIVS

Stephen Ratcliff, MA, LPCC, NCC, CST

Zita L. Nickeson, M.Ed., LMHC, LCPC, CST, CSE

Carrie Jameson, LCPC

Table of Contents

Table of Contents

Citation:	2
Purpose	2
Cultural and Professional Context for Developing these Core Competencies	2
Process of Developing these Core Competencies	2
Competencies	4
Core Concepts	5
Self-Monitoring and Awareness	8
Interdisciplinary Collaboration and Ethics	11
Clinical Skills	13
References	17
Additional References by the KinkGuidelines.org	21
Resources for Clinicians from the KinkGuidelines.com	29
Websites	29
Books	
Core Competencies Development Team	

TASHRA'S ELEMENTAL KINK READINESS TO ADVANCED KINK PROFICENCIES

Citation:

TASHRA. (2021). Elemental Kink Readiness to Advanced Kink Proficiencies for Medical and Mental Health Professionals. Retrieved from https://www.tashra.org

License: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/

Purpose

Cultural and Professional Context for Developing these Core Competencies

TASHRA's framework for clinical training starts with the assumption that clinicians should approach kink-identified people (people who have built a sexual/erotic identity around their kink interests and activities, including lifestyle and relationships) in the same manner they would approach any distinct culture or subculture that has minority status or is marginalized by mainstream culture. The approach we take towards elemental clinical readiness for kinky clients is rooted in leading cultural humility approaches in the healthcare field (Buchanan et al., 2020; Lekas et al., 2020; Tervalon & Murray-Garcia, 1998; Tormala et al., 2018).

Process of Developing these Core Competencies

Is kink a subculture, or a collection of subcultures? Yes, there are sexual subcultures that include a "story of origin", an established code of behavior, a way to pass down a system of shared meanings, and resources and encouragement for

individuals to develop a sexual identity. Kink communities exist across several nations while exhibiting distinct characteristics in each place. Kink communities have organizations that help to preserve and celebrate its history. Kink communities have developed a lengthy discourse on the nature of consent and how kink is consensual and not abusive. Kink communities have created avenues for education and mentoring on best practices and safety when engaging in risky behavior. Kink communities have events (local, national, and international), social organizations, educational organizations, literature, art, and organizations for social justice.

We recognize that the kink subculture does not comprise all people who engage in kinky behavior or have kink interests, and that like any subculture there are dynamics that prevent all interested people from gaining access to the life of the subculture. However, given the existence of these factors, it is quite appropriate for clinicians to approach working with kinky people from the framework of cultural competency and cultural humility.

Elemental Kink Readiness to Advanced Kink Proficiencies for Medical and Medal Health Providers

Competencies

Domains of Competency

Core Concepts

Self-Monitoring & Awareness

Interdisciplinary Collaboration & Ethics

Clinical Skills

Levels of Competency

Level 0.5 Sex Positive Provider

Level 1 Elemental Kink Readiness

Level 2 Intermediate Kink Proficiency

Level 3 Innovative Kink Specialist

Core Concepts

	CORE CONCEPTS
Level 0.5	Sex Positive Provider
0.1	Clinicians understand the principles of sex positivity and work to implement this mindset in their work with patients / client's sexuality. Definitions: • "Sexuality," a central aspect of being human, throughout life encompasses sex, gender identities and roles, sexual orientation, eroticism, pleasure, intimacy and reproduction. Sexuality is experienced and expressed in thoughts, fantasies, desires, beliefs, attitudes, values, behaviors, practices, roles and relationships. While sexuality can include all of these dimensions, not all of them are always experienced or expressed. Sexuality is influenced by the interaction of biological, psychological, social, economic, political, cultural, legal, historical, religious and spiritual factors." (WHO, 2006a) • "Sex Positivity" means having open and nonjudgmental attitudes about sexuality and sexual expression (Donaghue, 2015) including features such as: o They understand the importance of both emotional and physiological safer sex (International Society for Sexual Medicine). o They encourage freedom and liberation in adult consensual sexuality (Donaghue, 2015)
0.2	Clinicians understand <u>consent</u> and <u>reproductive justice</u> as philosophical frameworks for treatment. Clinicians can explain these concepts to others such as staff, patients, and clients.

0.3	Clinicians know about sexual diversity (ex. sexual orientation, gender diversity, relationship diversity, and alternative sexualities) and understand why it matters for the health and wellbeing of individuals, families, communities, and larger societal systems.
0.4	Clinicians need to understand what sexual health is. Here "sexual health" is being defined as "characterized by autonomy, mutuality, honesty, respectfulness, consent, protection, pursuit of pleasure, and wellness. The person exhibiting responsible sexual behavior does not intend to cause harm, and refrains from exploitation, harassment, manipulation and discrimination." Pan American Health Organization, WHO and WAS (2000).
Level 1	Elemental Kink Readiness Clinician
1.1	"Clinicians understand that <u>kink is used as an umbrella term for a wide</u> range of consensual erotic or intimate behaviors, fantasies, relationships, and identities" (Moser et al., 2019). Clinicians need to understand that some people enjoy:
	Power differences and exchanges
	• Fetishes
	Exchange of pain or intense sensation
	Relationship Diversity
	Altered states of consciousness
	These may or may not be sexual activities for individuals.
1.2	"Clinicians understand that kink fantasies, interests, behaviors, relationships and/or identities, by themselves, do not indicate the presence of psychopathology, a mental disorder or the inability of individuals to control their behavior" (Moser et al., 2019)
1.3	"Clinicians understand that kink is not necessarily a response to trauma, including abuse" (Moser et al., 2019)
1.4	"Clinicians understand the centrality of consent and how it is managed in kink interactions and power-exchange relationships" (Moser et al., 2019)
1.5	"Clinicians do not assume that kink involvement has a negative effect on parenting" (Moser et al., 2019).

1.6	"Clinicians recognize how stigma, discrimination, and violence directed at people involved in kink can affect their health and well-being" (Moser et al., 2019).
1.7	"Clinicians understand that there is a wide variety of family structures among kink-identified individuals" (Moser et al., 2019).
1.8	Clinicians know why different identities are considered "alternative" and how these identities impact people's lives, access to healthcare, stigma experiences, relationships, societal experiences, etc.
Level 2	Intermediate Kink Proficient Clinician
2.1	"Clinicians recognize that kink intersects with other identities in ways that may shape how kink is expressed and experienced" (Moser et al., 2019). Clinicians understand that these identities may be fluid for some people.
2.2	"Clinicians understand that kink may sometimes facilitate the exploration and expression of a range of gender, relationship, and sexuality interests and identities" (Moser et al., 2019). Clinicians understand that gender, relationship orientation, sexual orientation, and kink interests and identities may be fluid to different degrees for some people.
2.3	"Clinicians understand that kink interests may be recognized at any age" (Moser et al., 2019) and may change in the intensity of interest, the centrality of the interests to a person's sense of self, the centrality to a person's community belongingness, and the kinds of interest.
2.4	"Clinicians understand that distress about kink may reflect internalized stigma, oppression, and negativity rather than evidence of a disorder" (Moser et al., 2019).
2.5	Clinicians have advanced knowledge about advanced concepts in kink such as power exchanges, play with pain, use of fetishes, play with attire (furry, pup, leather, latex, etc.), common kink tools, community terminology for specific scenes and practices, etc. Clinicians understand that each may have their own distinguishing culture and practices.
Level 3	Innovative Kink Specialist

3.1	"Clinicians understand that kink experiences can lead to healing, personal growth, and empowerment" (Moser et al., 2019).
3.2	Clinicians consider how developmental and generational differences can influence kink behaviors and identities.

Self-Monitoring and Awareness

#	SELF MONITORING AND AWARENESS
LEVEL 0.5	Sex Positive Provider (free training)
0.5	Clinicians need to understand <u>cultural humility</u> (Tervalon & Murray-Garcia, 1998) and how to apply it in clinical practice.
0.6	Clinicians need to have an awareness of their bias pertaining to sexuality.
0.7	Clinicians are open to learning more about sex and sexual activity. They try to understand human bodies and all of the physical, emotional, and psychological aspects involved with intimacy. If they have questions about sex, they feel comfortable asking. (International Society for Sexual Medicine).
0.8	Clinicians consider sex to be a healthy part of life that should be enjoyed. For sex positive people, sex can be discussed without shame or awkwardness. It is not a taboo subject. (International Society for Sexual Medicine).
Level 1	Elemental Kink Readiness Clinician
1.09	Clinicians will be aware of their professional competence and scope of practice when working with patients / clients who are exploring kink or who are kink-identified, and will consult, obtain supervision, and/or refer as appropriate to best serve their patients / clients

1.10	Clinicians do not assume that a patient's presenting problem(s) (e.g. diagnosis, symptoms) are a result of their kink practices.
1.11	Clinicians understand that reparative or conversion therapies are unethical and in some states in illegal. Similarly, clinicians avoid attempts to eradicate consensual kink behaviors and identities.
1.12	Clinicians avoid shaming clients / patients when their kink behaviors or activities result in injuries.
1.13	Clinicians should evaluate their own biases, values, attitudes, and feelings about kink in general and address how those can affect their interactions with clients / patients on an ongoing basis.
1.14	Clinicians should evaluate how their own biases can affect their interactions with patients / clients on an ongoing basis.
1.15	Clinicians work to evaluate the impact of biases on assessment and diagnosis, which can lead to inequality in their provision of care.
1.16	Clinicians notice when they experience negative or difficult responses to their patient's kink behaviors and are able to self-regulate in the moment in order to limit harm through judgement (implicit or explicit).
1.17	Clinicians remain professionally impartial in their responses to patients when the clinician's bias, projections, or other challenging reactions are elicited in discussions of kink.
Level 2	Intermediate Kink Proficient Clinician
2.6	Clinicians should be able to quickly identify feelings of disgust, fear or anger when confronted by reports of kink behavior.
2.8	Clinicians need to understand <u>Postcolonial Feminism</u> as a helpful philosophical framework to accommodate cultural humility.
	This involves being conscious of intersectionality, interacting systems of oppression that silence or disempower people, and tendencies to simplify images and understandings of whole groups of people.

2.9	Clinicians understand that societal and internal stereotypes about kink may affect the patient's / client's presentation in treatment and the process of therapy move to other section.
Level 3	Innovative Kink Specialist
3.3	Clinicians are confident in what is in and outside their scopes of knowledge and practice.
3.4	Clinicians have clear strategies for lifelong learning about and monitoring of their reactions to clients / patients.
3.5	Clinicians are able to recognize that their internal responses and experiences to the patient's / client's "voice" frame the case conceptualization, modalities used and treatment process.
3.6	Clinicians listen for their inner conflicts and tensions without getting stuck in reactivity to the client's / patient's communications (perspectives, affect, identities, etc.).
3.7	Clinicians have a critical awareness of and are able to analyze the flow of power between a kinky client / patient and a treating clinician.
3.8	Clinicians are aware of and listen for the ways that clients / patients are silenced (e.g. by power dynamics, SES, internalized stigma, intersecting marginalized identities, etc.).
3.9	Clinicians have an overall awareness of changing terminologies and societal standards/behaviors and maintain an awareness and openness for change based on the negative impact that outdated terminology and standards have on our patients / clients.

Interdisciplinary Collaboration and Ethics

#	INTERDISCIPLINARY COLLABORATION AND ETHICS
Level 0.5	Sex Positive Provider (free training)
0.9	Clinicians understand the core practices of professional collaboration regarding health and sexuality.
Level 1	Elemental Kink Readiness Clinician
1.18	Clinicians familiarize themselves with local and national kink communities such as TASHRA, NCSF, CARAS, etc. and take steps to stay informed about kink related topics.
1.19	Clinicians familiarize themselves with local providers who are also kink-competent through resources such as the Kink Aware Professionals (KAP) list on NCSF's website. Clinicians use these providers for consultation as needed in their provision of care.
1.20	Clinicians take steps to collaborate with other professionals treating your clients / patients. If these professionals are not kink-competent, clinicians take steps to provide brief-education to increase their competence.
1.21	In collaborating with other providers, clinicians are aware of intersecting identities and take steps to assist in the care of these different identities and potential invisibility of some patients / clients due to intersecting identities.
1.22	When collaborating with other providers, clinicians are aware of the different scopes of practice of different providers and seek to understand the different treatment concerns from other providers and their different scopes of practice.

When making referrals, clinicians refer to kink-competent professionals when able. If no kink-competent professionals are available, then clinicians take steps to provide brief-education to increase these provider's competence by providing brief kink education.
Clinicians support the development of professional, interdisciplinary education (both medical and psychological health) and training on kink-related issues.
Clinicians are also able to understand how societal stigmas have impacted/can impact their provision of care.
Clinicians understand the legal risks in kink and BDSM and take advocacy steps for their' patients' wellbeing in their clinical practice and documentation.
Clinicians remain informed about the current scientific literature about kink and avoid misuse or misrepresentation of findings and methods.
Intermediate Kink Proficient Clinician
"Clinicians support social change to reduce stigma regarding kink" (Moser et al., 2019) at both national and local levels.
Clinicians collaboratively advocate with multiple different disciplines to at different levels and events to help destigmatize kink.
Clinicians make reasonable efforts to familiarize themselves with health, educational, and community resources relevant to clients / patients who are exploring kink or who have a kink identity, including sexuality and gender resources.
Clinicians advocate for kink-positive legislation. Clinicians may refer to kink-advocacy organizations such as TASHRA or NCSF for information about call-to-actions for relevant legislation.
Clinicians are able to attend and self-regulate prior and post attending in-vivo kink events with exposure to kink variety such as impact, restraint, role-play, furry, etc. Activities.
Clinicians address bias in colleagues as a part of advocacy on behalf of kinky patients / clients.

2.16	Clinicians understand the historical context of kink including the historical pathologization and criminalization of kink by clinicians, researchers, and the legal system.
2.17	Clinicians apply current research to treatment interventions in their practice with kinky clients / patients.
Level 3	Innovative Kink Specialist
3.10	Clinicians collaboratively develop, evaluate, and implement novel clinical interventions and techniques based upon the evolving kink scientific literature and theory.
3.11	Clinicians provide advanced education and training on kink-related issues for kink communities. Clinicians may want to reference the KECC standards if they go on to teach about kink. (https://www.thekecc.org/index.html).

Clinical Skills

	CLNICAL SKILLS
#	(Assessment, diagnoses, treatment planning, case conceptualization)
Level 0.5	Sex Positive Provider (free training)
0.10	 Clinicians normalize the variations of sexual interest, desire, urges, attraction, arousal, function, capacity, and satisfaction. Sexual Interest here means sexual cognition (awareness, attention) Sexual Desire here means "wanting something sexual to happen" Sexual Urges here means having spontaneous sexual thoughts or feelings from within Sexual Attraction here means sexually responsive to something or someone

	 Sexual <u>Arousal</u> here means the physiological sexual response associated with sexual stimuli (ex. Erection or vulvar lubrication). Sexual <u>Function</u> here means a person's expected physiological sexual response (ex. "Does my body do what it is "supposed" to do). Sexual <u>Capacity</u> here means the extent and degree of sexual experience a person can experience sensation or pleasure (ex. "how much can my body do") Sexual <u>Satisfaction</u> here means a person's subjective feeling of contentment with their sexuality
0.11	Clinicians understand that sexual interest, desire, urges, attraction, arousal, function, capacity, and satisfaction may change across the lifespan.
Level 1	Elemental Kink Readiness Clinician
1.28	Clinicians can identify kinky sexual interest, desire, urges, attraction, arousal, function, capacity, and satisfaction.
1.29	Clinicians can provide an affirming, normalizing framework for assessing clients / patients and their needs.
1.30	Clinicians have the ability to assess intimate partner violence in the context of consensual kink/BDSM relationships.
1.31	Clinicians have the ability to discuss the mental and physical health implications of the patient / client's kinky behavior
1.32	Clinicians have the ability to assess when a patient's / client's kinky or sexual activities place them at potential legal risk.
1.33	Clinicians have the ability to distinguish between age play and minor attraction / pedophilia.
1.34	Clinicians have the ability to identify processes of coming out as kinky and assess the client's / patient's current coming out status.
1.35	Clinicians demonstrate skills in connecting clients and patients to kink and sexuality community resources, both social and educational.
1.36	Clinicians have a basic ability to apply a family systems theory to extradyadic relationship dynamics.

Level 2	Intermediate Kink Proficient Clinician
2.18	Clinicians can determine the differences between bruises, marks, and injuries caused by consent violations from those caused by consensual kink.
2.19	Clinicians have the ability to identify the difference between x-drop and clinical depression or anxiety disorders.
2.20	Clinicians have examined their own bias and taken steps to manage these with humility.
2.21	Clinicians understand that individuals can find personal growth through kink activities.
2.22	Clinicians have skills to address consent violations and abuse (IPV / DV) in both relationships and at the community level.
2.23	Clinicians can guide kink-involved people through low-risk pregnancy and perinatal care.
2.24	Clinicians can guide kink-involved people through expected changes with aging.
2.25	Clinicians discern the differences between consensual "edge play" and coercive or non-consensual kink.
2.26	Clinicians should be aware of the limitations of contemporary assessment and treatment tools that may pathologize aspects of kink and result in misdiagnosis and iatrogenic outcomes.
2.27	Clinicians ensure that their assessment and treatment tools are kink-informed. If they are not, clinicians should take steps to "translate" these documents accordingly.
2.28	Clinicians know how to critically evaluate a patient's / client's prior diagnosis, treatment, and conceptualization to discern any impact of past clinician biases.
2.29	Clinicians are skilled in assessing, diagnosing, and planning treatment in cases involving extra-dyadic relationship dynamics.
2.30	Clinicians have paperwork and processes in place for treating extra-dyadic kink relationships.

2.31	Clinicians understand what the "dark triad" are and how they or similar psychological features may manifest in kink activity for a minority of kinky individuals.
Level 3	Innovative Kink Specialist
3.12	Clinicians discern when it is appropriate to suggest kink activity, which patients have prior disclosed benefiting from, for patient therapeutic benefit. Clinicians appropriately document the intervention and response.
3.13	Clinicians also discern when it is appropriate to suggest novel kink activity (ex. "Trauma" or "shadow" play) for potential patient therapeutic benefit. Clinicians appropriately document the intervention and response.
3.14	Clinicians collaboratively work with relevant medical specialists to assist kink-involved people with complex medical conditions and / or comorbidities (e.g. pregnancy, chronic illness/disabilities).
3.15	Clinicians can critically engage with and explore the depths of the traits of personality disorders and psychopathy that a minority of kinky individuals may consciously or unconsciously manifest in kink.

References

- Barker, M., Gupta, C., & Iantaffi, A. (2007). The power of play: The potentials and pitfalls in healing narratives of BDSM.
- Beach, M. C., Price, E. G., Gary, T. L., Robinson, K. A., Gozu, A., Palacio, A., Smarth, C., Jenckes, M.W., Feuerstein, C., Bass, E.B., Powe, N.R., & Cooper, L. A. (2005). Cultural competency: A systematic review of health care provider educational interventions. Medical care, 43(4), 356. 10.1097/01.mlr.0000156861.58905.96
- Buchanan, N. T., Rios, D., & Case, K. A. (2020). Intersectional cultural humility:
 Aligning critical inquiry with critical praxis in psychology. Women & Therapy, 43(3-4), 235-243. https://doi.org/10.1080/02703149.2020.1729469
- Butler, M., McCreedy, E., Schwer, N., Burgess, D., Call, K., Przedworski, J., Rosser, S., Larson, S., Allen, M., Fu, S., & Kane, R. L. (2016). Improving cultural competence to reduce health disparities. Rockville (MD): Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (US); 2016 Mar. Report No.: 16-EHC006-EF. PMID: 27148614.
- Cascalheira, C. J., Ijebor, E. E., Salkowitz, Y., Hitter, T. L., & Boyce, A. (2021). Curative kink: survivors of early abuse transform trauma through BDSM. Sexual and Relationship Therapy, 1-31. https://doi.org/10.1080/14681994.2021.1937599
- Donaghue, C. (2015). Sex outside the lines: Authentic sexuality in a sexually dysfunctional culture. Dallas, TX: Benbella Books.
- Easton, D. (2007). Shadowplay: S/M journeys to our selves. In D. Langdridge & M. Barker (Eds.) Safe, sane and consensual: Contemporary perspectives on sadomasochism. (pp. 217–228). Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Henkin, W. A. (2007). Some beneficial aspects of exploring personas and role play in the BDSM context. In Langdridge, D. & Barker, M. (Eds.), Safe, sane and consensual: contemporary perspectives on sadomasochism. London: Palgrave Macmillan.

- Hoff, G., & Sprott, R. A. (2009). Therapy experiences of clients with BDSM sexualities: Listening to a stigmatized sexuality. Electronic Journal of Human Sexuality, 12(9), 30.
- Hook, J. N., Davis, D. E., Owen, J., Worthington Jr., E. L., & Utsey, S. O. (2013). Cultural humility: Measuring openness to culturally diverse clients. Journal of Counseling Psychology®. doi:10.1037/a0032595
- Kink Clinical Practice Guidelines Project. (2019). Clinical Practice Guidelines for Working with People with Kink Interests. Retrieved from https://www.kinkguidelines.com
- Kolmes, K., Stock, W., & Moser, C. (2006). Investigating bias in psychotherapy with BDSM clients. Journal of homosexuality, 50(2-3), 301-324.

https://doi.org/10.1300/J082v50n02 15

- Kolmes, K., & Witherspoon, R. G. (2012). Sexual orientation microaggressions in everyday life: expanding our conversations about sexual diversity: part I. Bull Psychol in Independent Pract, 96.
- Lantto, R., & Lundberg, T. (2021). (Un) desirable approaches in therapy with Swedish individuals practicing BDSM: client's perspectives and recommendations for affirmative clinical practices. Psychology & Sexuality, (just-accepted)
 .https://doi.org/10.1080/19419899.2021.1918230
- Lekas, H. M., Pahl, K., & Fuller Lewis, C. (2020). Rethinking Cultural Competence: Shifting to Cultural Humility. Health Services Insights, 13, 1178632920970580.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1178632920970580

Lindemann, D. (2011). BDSM as therapy?. Sexualities, 14(2), 151-

172. https://doi.org/10.1177/1363460711399038

Moser, C. (2016). DSM-5 and the paraphilic disorders: Conceptual issues. Archives of Sexual Behavior, 45(8), 2181-2186. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-016-0861-9

Moser, C. (2018). Paraphilias and the ICD-11: Progress but still logically inconsistent. Archives of Sexual Behavior, 47(4), 825-826.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-017-1141-z

- Moser, C., Jacobs, L., Sprott, R., Johnson, R., Randall, A., Manduley, A., Thomas, S., Jameson, C., Berkey, B., Shahbaz, C., Wright, S., Francis, S., Williams, D.J., Chirinos, P., Prior, E., Kleinplatz, P., Michels, L., Levine-Ward, A., Nichols, M., Grant, P., & Strambaugh, R. (2019) Clinical Practice Guidelines for Working with People with Kink Interests. Retrieved from https://www.kinkguidelines.com/the-guidelines
- Newmahr, S. (2010). Rethinking kink: Sadomasochism as serious leisure.

 Qualitative Sociology, 33(3), 313-331. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11133-010-9158-9
- Silva, A. D. (2015). Through pain, more gain? A survey into the psychosocial benefits of sadomasochism (Master's thesis). Retrieved from

https://www.duo.uio.no/handle/10852/48652

- Sprott, R.A., Vivid, J., Vilkin, E., Swallow, L., Lev, E.M., Orejudos, J. and Schnittman, D. (2020). A queer boundary: How sex and BDSM interact for people who identify as kinky. Sexualities. Advance online publication. doi: 10.1177/1363460720944594.
- Sprott, R., & Randall, A. (2017). Health disparities among kinky sex practitioners.

 Current Sexual Health Reports, 9(3), 104-108. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11930-017-0113-6
- Sprott, R. A., Randall, A., Davison, K., Cannon, N., & Witherspoon, R. G. (2017).

 Alternative or nontraditional sexualities and therapy: A case report. Journal of clinical psychology, 73(8), 929-937. 10.1002/jclp.22511
- Sprott, R. A., Randall, A., Smith, K., & Woo, L. (2021). Rates of Injury and Healthcare Utilization for Kink-Identified Patients. The Journal of Sexual Medicine. Advanced online publication.
- Tervalon, M., & Murray-Garcia, J. (1998). Cultural humility versus cultural competence: A critical distinction in defining physician training outcomes in multicultural education.

Journal of health care for the poor and underserved, 9(2), 117-125.

10.1353/hpu.2010.0233

- Thomas, J. N. (2020). BDSM as trauma play: An autoethnographic investigation. Sexualities, 23(5-6), 917-933. https://doi.org/10.1177/1363460719861800
- Tormala, T. T., Patel, S. G., Soukup, E. E., & Clarke, A. V. (2018). Developing measurable cultural competence and cultural humility: An application of the cultural formulation. Training and Education in Professional Psychology, 12(1), 54.

https://doi.org/10.1037/tep0000183

- Vilkin, E., and Sprott, R. A. (in press). Consensual non-monogamy among kink-identified adults: Characteristics, relationship experiences, and unique motivations for polyamory and open relationships. Archives of Sexual Behavior.
- Waldura, J. F., Arora, I., Randall, A. M., Farala, J. P., & Sprott, R. A. (2016). Fifty shades of stigma: Exploring the health care experiences of kink-oriented patients. The journal of sexual medicine, 13(12), 1918-1929. 10.1016/j.jsxm.2016.09.019
- Weinberg, T. S. (2006). Sadomasochism and the social sciences: A review of the sociological and social psychological literature. Journal of Homosexuality, 50(2-3), 17-40. https://doi.org/10.1300/J082v50n02_02
- WHO (2006). Defining sexual health: Report of a technical consultation on sexual health, 28–31 January 2002. Geneva, World Health Organization.
- What does "sex positive" mean? ISSM. (2018, September 21). https://www.issm.info/sexual-health-qa/what-does-sex-positive-mean/.
- Williams, D. J., Thomas, J. N., Prior, E. E., & Walters, W. (2015). Introducing a multidisciplinary framework of positive sexuality. Journal of Positive Sexuality, 1(1), 6-11.
- Williams, D. J., Christensen, M. C., & Capous-Desyllas, M. (2016). Social work practice and sexuality: Applying a positive sexuality model to enhance diversity and resolve problems. Families in Society, 97(4), 287-294. https://doi.org/10.1606/1044-

3894.2016.97.35

Additional References by the KinkGuidelines.org

- American Psychological Association. (2007). Guidelines for psychological practice with girls and women. American Psychologist, 62 (9). 949-979. DOI: 10/1037/0003-066X.62.9.949
- American Psychological Association. (2011). Guidelines for psychological practice with lesbian, gay and bisexual clients. Office on Sexual Orientation and Gender Diversity. Retrieved from: https://www.apa.org/pi/lgbt/resources/guidelines
- American Psychological Association. (2014). Guidelines for psychological practice with older adults. American Psychologist, 69 (1), 34-65. DOI: 10.1037/a0035063
- American Psychological Association. (2015). Guidelines for psychological practice with transgender and gender nonconforming people. American Psychologist, 70, (9), 832-864. DOI: 10.1037/a0039906
- American Psychological Association. (2017). Multicultural Guidelines: An Ecological Approach to Context, Identity, and Intersectionality. Retrieved from:

 http://www.apa.org/about/policy/multicultural-guidelines.pdf
- Bader, M. J. (1993). Adaptive sadomasochism and psychological growth. Psychoanalytic Dialogues, (2)3, 279-300.
- Baldwin, G. (2002). Slavecraft: Roadmaps for erotic servitude. Los Angeles: Daedalus Publishing Company.
- Barker, M., Iantaffi, A., and Gupta, C. (2007). Kinky clients, kinky counselling? The challenges and potentials of BDSM. In: Moon, Lindsey (ed.) Feeling Queer or Queer Feelings: Radical Approaches to Counselling Sex, Sexualities and Genders. London, UK: Routledge, pp. 106–124.
- Bauer, R. (2008). Transgressive and transformative gendered sexual practices and White privileges: The case of the Dyke/Trans BDSM communities. Women's Studies Quarterly, 36 (3-4), 233-253. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1353/wsq.0.0100
- Bauer, R. (2010). Non-Monogamy in Queer BDSM Communities: Putting the Sex Back into Alternative Relationship Practices and Discourse. In Barker, M. and Langdridge, D. (eds) Understanding Non-Monogamies. (p.142-153). New York, NY: Routledge. DOI: 10.4324/9780203869802-22

- Bauer, R. (2016). Desiring masculinities while desiring to question masculinity? How embodied masculinities are renegotiated in les-bi-trans-queer BDSM practices. NORMA, 11 (4), 237-254. DOI: 10.1080/18902138.2016.1260262
- Bezreh, T., Weinberg, T. S., & Edgar, T. (2012). BDSM Disclosure and Stigma Management: Identifying Opportunities for Sex Education. American journal of sexuality education, 7(1), 37-61.
- Brizzi, M. (in review). An empirical investigation of sadomasochism and self-actualisation. Journal of Humanistic Psychology.
- Califia, P. (2001). Sensuous Magic. A Guide to S/M for Adventurous Couples. San Francisco: Cleis Press.
- Cannon, N. P. (2009). A psychological assessment of self-defined BDSM practitioners. San Francisco, CA: Institute for Advanced Study of Human Sexuality.
- Connolly, P. (2006). Psychological functioning of Bondage/Domination/Sado-Masochism (BDSM) practitioners. Journal of Psychology and Human Sexuality, 18(1), 79-120.
- Cowan, L. (1982). Masochism: A Jungian View. Dallas, TX: Spring Publications.
- Cramer, R.J., Mandracchia, J., Gemberling, T.M., Holley, S.R., Wright, S., Moody, K., & Nobles, M.R. (2017). Can need for affect and sexuality differentiate suicide risk in three community samples? Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology, 36, 704-722.
- Cross, P.A. and Matheson, K. (2006). Understanding sadomasochism: An empirical examination of four perspectives. Journal of Homosexuality, 50:2-3, 133-166. doi: 10.1300/J082v50n02_07
- Damm, C., Dentato, M.P., and Busch, N. (2018). Unravelling intersecting identities: understanding the lives of people who practice BDSM. Psychology & Sexuality, 9:1, 21-37, DOI: 10.1080/19419899.2017.1410854
- Dancer, P. L., Kleinplatz, P. J., & Moser, C. (2006). 24/7 SM slavery. Journal of Homosexuality, 50, 81-101.
- Delisle, C., Dube, S., Tomasiello, M., & Santaguida, M. (2018). The importance of sexual context in the subjective appraisal of sexual arousal, desire, and orgasm among BDSM practitioners. Journal of Interpersonal Relations, Intergroup Relations and Identity, 11 (Winter), 74-89.

- Dunkley, C. R. and Brotto, L. A. (2018). Clinical considerations in treating BDSM practitioners: A review. Journal of Sex & Marital Therapy, 44 (7), 701-712, DOI: 10.1080/0092623X.2018.1451792
- Easton, D. (2007). Shadowplay: S/M journeys to our selves. In Langdridge, D., Barker, M. (Eds.). Safe, Sane and Consensual: Contemporary Perspectives on Sadomasochism. London: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Hatzenbuehler, M., McLaughlin, K., Hasin, D.(2010) The impact of institutional discrimination on psychiatric disorder in lesbian, gay, and bisexual populations. American Journal of Public Health, 100(3), 452-459.
- Henkin, W. A. 2013. Some beneficial aspects of exploring personas and role play in the BDSM context. In: Langdridge, D. & Barker, M. (eds.) Safe, Sane and Consensual: Contemporary Perspectives on Sadomasochism. Palgrave MacMillan
- Herbenick, D., Bowling, J., Fu, T. J., Dodge, B., Guerra-Reyes, L., & Sanders, S. (2017). Sexual diversity in the United States: Results from a nationally representative probability sample of adult women and men. PloS One, 12(7), e0181198. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0181198
- Hillman, J. (2004). Archetypal Psychology. Putnam, CT: Spring Publications.
- Hoff, G. and Sprott, R.A. (2009). Therapy experiences of clients with BDSM sexualities: listening to a stigmatized sexuality. The Electronic Journal of Human Sexuality. 12. Retrieved from http://www.ejhs.org/Volume12/bdsm.htm
- Holvoet, L., Huys, W., Coppens, V., Seeuws, J., Goethals, K., & Morrens, M. (2017). Fifty Shades of Belgian gray: The prevalence of BDSM-related fantasies and activities in the general population. The Journal of Sexual Medicine, 14(9), 1152–1159. DOI: 10.1016/j.jsxm.2017.07.003
- Janus, S., & Janus, C. (1993). The Janus report on sexual behavior. New York: John Wiley and Sons.
- Joyal, C.C. & Carpentier, J. (2016): The prevalence of paraphilic interests and behaviors in the general population: A provincial survey. The Journal of Sex Research, DOI: 10.1080/00224499.2016.1139034

- Jozifkova, E. (2018). Sexual arousal by dominance and submissiveness in the general population: How many, how strongly, and why? Deviant Behavior, 39 (9), 1229-1236. DOI: 10.1080/01639625.2017.1410607
- Kelsey, K., Stiles, B. L., Spiller, L. and Diekhoff, G. M. (2013). Assessment of therapists' attitudes towards BDSM. Psychology & Sexuality, 4 (3), 255-267. DOI: 10.1080/19419899.2012.655255
- Klein, M. & Moser, C. (2006). SM (sadomasochistic) interests as an issue in child custody proceedings. Journal of Homosexuality, 50(2/3), 233-242.
- Kleinplatz, P. J. (2006). Learning from extraordinary lovers: Lessons from the edge. In Kleinplatz, P. J. & Moser, C. (Eds.) (2006). Sadomasochism: Powerful Pleasures. (p. 325-348). Binghamton, NY: Haworth Press.
- Kleinplatz, P. J.& Moser, C. (2004). Toward clinical guidelines for working with BDSM clients. Contemporary Sexuality, 38 (6), 1-4.
- Kleinplatz, P. J. & Moser, C. (Eds.) (2006). Sadomasochism: Powerful Pleasures. Binghamton, NY: Haworth Press.
- Lawrence, A. A., and Love-Crowell, J. (2008). Psychotherapists' experience with clients who engage in consensual sadomasochism: A qualitative study. Journal of Sex & Marital Therapy, 34, 67-85. DOI: 10.1080/00926230701620936
- Masters, W. H., Johnson, V. E., & Kolodny, R. C. (1995). Human sexuality. New York, NY: HarperCollins College.
- McConnell, E. A., Janulis, P., Phillips II, G., Truong, R., and Birkett, M. (2018). Multiple minority stress and LGBT community resilience among sexual minority men. Psychology of Sexual Orientation and Gender Diversity, 5 (1), 1-12. DOI: 10.1037/sfd0000265
- Merrick, M.T., Ford, D.C., Ports, K. A., Guinn, A. S. (2018). Prevalence of Adverse Childhood Experiences From the 2011-2014 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System in 23 States. JAMA Pediatrics, 172(11), 1038-1044.
- Meyer, I. H., and Frost, D. M. (2013). Minority stress and the health of sexual minorities. In Patterson, C. J., and D'Augelli, A. R. (eds), Handbook of Psychology and Sexual Orientation. (p. 252-266). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.

- Miller, S. and Byers, E. (2010). Psychologists' sexual education and training in graduate school. Canadian Journal of Behavioural Science, 42 (2), 93-100.
- Morin, J. (1995). The Erotic Mind. New York, NY: Harper Collins.
- Moser, C. (2016). Defining sexual orientation. Archives of Sexual Behavior, 45(3), 505-508. DOI: 10.1007/s10508-015-0625-y
- Moser, C. and Levitt, E. E. (1987). An exploratory-descriptive study of a sadomasochistically oriented sample. The Journal of Sex Research, 23 (3). 322-337.
- National Association of Social Workers. (2015). Standards and indicators of cultural competence in social work practice. Retrieved from https://www.socialworkers.org/Practice/Practice-P
- National Coalition for Sexual Freedom. (2008). NCSF violence and discrimination survey (2008). Retrieved from https://ncsfreedom.org/resources/bdsm-survey.html
- Newmahr, S. (2010). Rethinking kink: sadomasochism as serious leisure. Qualitative Sociology, 33, 313–331.
- Nerses, M., Kleinplatz, P. J., and Moser, C. (2019). Group therapy with international LGBTQ+ clients at the intersection of multiple minority status. Psychology of Sexualities Review, 6 (1), 99-109.
- Nordling, N., Sandnabba, N. K., Santtila, P. (2000). The prevalence and effects of self-reported childhood sexual abuse among sadomasochistically oriented males and females. Journal of Child Sexual Abuse, 9 (1), 53-63. DOI: 10.1300/j070v09n01_04
- Nordling, N., Sandnabba, N. K., Santtila, P., & Alison, L. (2006). Differences and similarities between gay and straight individuals involved in the sadomasochistic subculture. Journal of Homosexuality, 50(2/3), 41–57. DOI: 10.1300/J082v50n02_03
- Pitagora, D. (2015). Intimate partner violence in sadomasochistic relationships. Sexual and Relationship Therapy, 31 (1), 95-108. DOI: 10.1080/14681994.2015.1102219
- Pitagora, D. (2016). The kink-poly confluence: Relationship intersectionality in marginalized communities. Sexual and Relationship Therapy, 31(3), 391–405.

 DOI:10.1080/14681994.2016.115608

- Rehor, J.E. (2015). Sensual, erotic, and sexual behaviors of women from the "kink" community. Archives of Sexual Behavior, 44, 825-836. DOI 10.1007/s10508-015-0524-2
- Richters J, Grulich AE, de Visser RO, Smith AMA, Rissel CE. (2003). Sex in Australia: autoerotic, esoteric and other sexual practices engaged in by a representative sample of adults. Aust NZ J Public Health 27:180-90.
- Rodemaker, D. (2008). Altsex: The clinician's guide to BDSM. Doctoral dissertation. Proquest Dissertation and Theses. UMI 3436690.
- Roush, J.F., Brown, S.L., Mitchell, S.M., & Cukrowicz, K. C. (2017). Shame, guilt, and suicide ideation among bondage and discipline, dominance and submission, and sadomasochism practitioners: Examining the role of the interpersonal theory of suicide. Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior, 47(2), 129-141.
- Sandnabba, N. K., Santtila, P., and Nordling, N. (1999). Sexual behavior and social adaptation among sadomasochistically-oriented males. Journal of Sex Research, 36 (3), 273-282.
- Sandnabba, N.K., Santilla, P., Alison, L. and Nordling, N. (2002). Demographics, sexual behaviour, family background and abuse experiences of practitioners of sadomasochistic sex: a review of recent research. Sexual and Relationship Therapy, 17(1), 39-55.
- Sheff, E., & Hammers, C. (2011) The privilege of perversities: race, class and education among polyamorists and kinksters, Psychology & Sexuality, 2:3, 198-223. DOI: 10.1080/19419899.2010.537674
- Shahbaz, C. (in review). The kinky psyche: Seeing sadomasochistic Master / slave dynamics through a Hillmanian perspective. Journal of Humanistic Psychology.
- Shahbaz, C. and Chirinos, P. (2017). Becoming a Kink Aware Therapist. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Simula, B. (2019). Pleasure, power, and pain: A review of the literature on the experiences of BDSM participants. Sociology Compass. Advance online publication. DOI: 10.1111/soc4.12668
- Simula, B. and Sumerau, J. (2017). The use of gender in the interpretation of BDSM. Sexualities, https://doi.org/10.1177/1363460717737488

- Sprott, R. A., & Berkey, B. (2015). At the intersection of sexual orientation and alternative sexualities: Issues raised by Fifty Shades of Grey. Psychology of Sexual Orientation and Gender Diversity, 2(4), 506-507. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/sgd0000150
- Sprott, R.A. and Benoit Hadcock, B. (2017). Bisexuality, pansexuality, queer identity and kink identity. Sexual and Relationship Therapy, 33(1-2), 214-232. DOI: 10.1080/14681994.2017.1347616
- Sprott, R.A., Randall, A., Davison, K, Cannon, N., and Witherspoon, R. (2017). Alternative or non-traditional sexualities and therapy: A case report. Journal of Clinical Psychology, 73 (8), 929-937. DOI: 10.1002/jclp.22511
- Sprott, R.A., and Williams, DJ. (2019). Is BDSM a sexual orientation or serious leisure? Current Sexual Health Reports. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11930-019-00195-x
- Sprott, R.A. and Randall, A.R. (in review). The invisible gate: Experiences of well-being in the context of kink sexuality. Manuscript submitted for publication.
- stein, d. (2002). "Safe Sane Consensual" The Making of a Shibboleth. Retrieved on May 30, 2016 from http://www.boybear.us/ssc.pdf
- van Anders, S. (2015). Beyond sexual orientation: Integrating genders/sex and diverse sexualities via sexual configurations theory. Archives of Sexual Behavior, 44, 1177–1213. doi:10.1007/s1050801504908
- Vilkin, E, & Sprott, R.A. (2019, November). Relationship concerns among kink-identified adults.

 Paper presented at the meeting of the Association for Behavioral and Cognitive Therapies,

 Atlanta, GA.
- Waldura, J., Arora, I., Randall, A., Farala, J. P., & Sprott, R. A. (2016). 50 Shades of stigma: Exploring the healthcare experiences of kink-oriented patients. The Journal of Sexual Medicine, 13(12), 1918–1929. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsxm.2016.09.019
- Walker, G. J., Scott, D., and Stodolska, M. (2017). Leisure matters: The state and future of leisure studies. State College, PA: Venture.
- Wismeijer, A., & van Assen, M. A. L. M. (2013). Psychological characteristics of BDSM practitioners. The Journal of Sexual Medicine, 10(8), 1943–1952. DOI: 10.1111/jsm.12192

- Wright, S., Guerin, J., & Heaven, C. (2012). NCSF Consent Counts Survey. Retrieved from https://ncsfreedom.org/images/stories/pdfs/Consent%20Counts/CC_Docs_New_011513/consent%20survey%20analysis.pdf
- Wright, S., Stambaugh, R, and Cox, D. (2015). Consent Violations Survey Tech Report. Retrieved from https://ncsfreedom.org/images/stories/2015_Survey_PDFs_ETC/Consent%20Violations%20Survey%20Analysis%20final.pdf
- Yost, M. R., and Hunter, L. E. (2012). BDSM practitioners' understandings of their initial attraction to BDSM sexuality: essentialist and constructionist narratives. Psychology & Sexuality, 3 (3), 244-259. DOI: 10.1080/19419899.2012.700028

Resources for Clinicians from the KinkGuidelines.com

Websites

The Network / La Red

http://tnlr.org/en/

National Coalition for Sexual Freedom (NCSF)

http://www.ncsfreedom.org

The Alternative Sexualities Health Research Alliance (TASHRA)

https://www.tashra.org

Community-Academic Consortium for Research on Alternative Sexualities (CARAS)

https://www.carasresearch.org

Kink Knowledgeable

http://training.kinkknowledgeable.com

Diverse Sexualities Research and Education Institute

https://dsrei.org

Multiplicity of the Erotic Conference (MOTE)

https://www.mote-con.org

Kink Aware Professionals (KAP)

http://www.ncsfreedom.org/key-programs/kink-aware-professionals-59776

Books

Kleinplatz, P.J. and Moser, C. (2006). Sadomasochism: Power Pleasures. Binghamton, NY: Harrington Park Press.

Langdridge, D. and Barker, M. (2007). Safe, Sane And Consensual: Contemporary Perspectives On Sadomasochism. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.

Ortmann, D. and Sprott, R.A. (2013). Sexual Outsiders: Understanding BDSM Sexualities and Communities. New York: Rowman and Littlefield.

Shahbaz, C., & Chirinos, P. (2017). Becoming A Kink Aware Therapist. New York: Routledge

Weinberg, T.S. (1995). S&M: Studies in Dominance and Submission. Amherst, NY: Prometheus Books.

Core Competencies Development Team

Richard A. Sprott, PhD

Richard Sprott received his Ph.D. in Developmental Psychology from UC Berkeley in 1994. His early work was on social and language development in early childhood. He is currently directing research projects focused on identity development and health/well-being in people who express alternative sexualities and non-traditional relationships, with a special emphasis on kink/BDSM sexuality, and polyamory or consensual non-monogamy. He is also co-chair of the Children, Youth and Families Committee of the Society for the Psychology of Sexual Orientation and Gender Diversity (APA Division 44). All of these efforts highlight the ways in which stigma, prejudice, minority dynamics, health, language, identity development and community development all intersect and affect each other. Richard currently teaches courses in the Department of Human Development and Women's Studies at California State University, East Bay and graduate level courses at various universities in the Bay Area, including UC Berkeley, the California Institute of Integral Studies, and Holy Names University.

Anna Randall, DHS, LCSW, MPH

Anna Randall (she/her/hers) is Co-Founder & Exec. Dir. of TASHRA - The Alternative Sexualities Health Research Alliance (tashra.org), a national nonprofit sexuality research and clinical training organization. In 2009, she earned her Doctorate in Human Sexuality and Masters in Public Health from the Institute for the Advanced Study of Human Sexuality, and earned her Masters in Social Work from Boston University in 1988. Dr. Randall is a published researcher on the livedexperienced of kink-involved (BDSM & fetish) individuals, a sex therapist & adjunct faculty at Widener Univ. Her work focuses on the emergence of kink as an area of clinical and research specialty and she is the Co-Principal Investigator on the International Kink Health Study 2021, she's on the leadership team forming the Clinical Practice Guidelines for Working with People with Kink Interests, and is a founder of the MOTE Conference. She is a licensed clinical social worker with a specialty in sex therapy with individuals, couples, and other relational configurations. She leads case consultation groups focusing in on clinical practice with diverse sexuality, mentors educators, therapists and those looking to get involved in kink as a focus of professional interest.

<u>Drannarandall.com</u> <u>tashra.org</u>

Kaylie Engel, BA

Kaylie Engel attended Lewis & Clark College for her undergraduate degree in International Affairs and Ethnic Studies with an academic focus on global reproductive health and justice. Engel's thesis focused on how U.S. foreign policy affected abortion and other reproductive health policies abroad. Kaylie is currently located in Chicago, IL. Since graduating, Engel has been working as a sex educator. From volunteering at the Center for Positive Sexuality, she began interning with TASHRA and inevitably became their Communications Coordinator. Engel also works with the William A. Percy foundation helping to create content for and build an educational website for parents of LGBTQ+ children. Engel is passionate about reproductive justice and culturally competent sex education. Engel is also a multi-disciplinary artist who works with textiles, print making, and photography.

Erik Wert, DO, MPH, FACOI, AAHIVS

Erik Wert (He/His/Him) received his Bachelors in Science from Union College, Schenectady NY with a majoring in biology, with a minor in chemistry. He then attended medical school at Michigan State College of Osteopathic Medicine (MSUCOM) graduating in 2000. He completed his medical internship and Internal Medicine Residency at Ingham Regional Medical Center/McLaren Greater Lansing in 2005. Dr. Wert is also Board Certified in Internal Medicine, and is a Fellow in the College of Internal Medicine. Once he graduated from his residency he has practice Internal Medicine in Lansing, MI since 2005. His focus has been preventive healthcare and sexual health care. He subsequently returned an obtained his Masters in Public Health from Michigan State University College of Human Medicine in 2016. Dr. Wert speaks at both State and Local levels on Health Inequalities faced by diverse patient population. He provides primary care, HIV care and HIV prevention to a large BDSM/Kink community. He is a member of the Sexual Medicine Society of North America, and is also a Kink Aware Professional though the National Coalition for Sexual Freedom. Dr. Wert lectures on multiple topics relative to healthcare and healthcare disparities at various state and local events. He has also served as a quest lecture on BDSM/Kink at various organizations. Dr. Wert serves an Assistant Clinical Professor of Medicine at MSUCOM. Dr. Wert obtained his certification in HIV medicine from the American Academy of HIV Medicine (AAHIVM) in 2020. He is also assisting the AAHIVM in re-writing their modules on how to take a sexual history and focusing on educating providers on BDSM/Kink. Dr. Wert also serves CARAS community-based IRB Committee.

Stephen Ratcliff, MA, LPCC, NCC, CST

Steve Ratcliff (he, him pronouns) is a licensed mental health counselor and AASECT certified sex therapist in private practice in Albuquerque, New Mexico who specializes in treating LGBTQ+, Kinky, and Consensually Nonmonogamous (CNM) clients. Steve also has been an avid teacher, presenting continuing education seminars at conferences, local universities, and clinical agencies since 2010. Steve joined the directors board of NCSF in March 2021. Steve completed his Bachelor of Arts in Religious Studies in 2006 and his Master of Arts in Clinical Psychology in 2009. In 2018, Steve began doctoral studies in Clinical Psychology. Steve's doctoral studies are focusing on gender, sexual, and relationship diversity (GSRD). In 2020, Steve began participating with the international Kink Health Survey research team lead by Dr. Sprott and Dr. Randall. Starting in 2022, Steve plans to conduct his dissertation study examining attachment patterns in consensually nonmonogamous people. Steve's research interests include various topics in the gender, sexual, and relationship diversity (GSRD) populations.

Zita L. Nickeson, M.Ed., LMHC, LCPC, CST, CSE

Zita Nickeson is a Licensed Mental Health Counselor in WA, ID, MT, WY and CO. She is a Certified Sex Therapist, Certified Sex Educator, Kink Knowledgeable Professional and Ethnic Minority Mental Health Specialist (WA specific). Additionally, Zita is currently a Doctoral Candidate in Human Sexuality/Psychology, completing her dissertation work around BIPOC and Interracial Relationship Experiences within Kink.

Carrie Jameson, LCPC

Carrie Jameson welcomes people of all orientations, identities, and relationships, including heterosexual, LGBTQIA, POC, fetish, kink and alternative relationships (such as consensual non-monogamy, swinging, and polyamory) and those who are working through issues related to sexuality. Ms. Jameson also helps people who have survived traumas, either recent or past. Traumatic experiences can affect relationships, moods (being anxious, irritable or angry, feeling sad or fearful), and daily living including eating, sleeping and self-care. Therapy can help you access the power that comes with healing trauma, find peace and meaning, as well as enrich your relationships. Life may feel like uncharted waters, if you are not sure of where you are, where you are going, or even where you want to be. Underlying these experiences may be feelings of not

belonging, being broken, not worthy (of success, love, peace), or fear of being abandoned or left. Together we can explore what belonging and/or self-worth means and the kind of life you want to be living. Therapy can heal wounds, create more rewarding relationships (with self and others), help you to accept yourself, while appreciating that you are a constantly changing being.